A.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 1.  The State presented insufficient evidence to convict Edward 

Warner of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree, in that 

the State failed to prove constructive possession. 

 2.  Mr. Warner’s convictions were entered in violation of his 

Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. 

 3.  Mr. Warner’s convictions were entered in violation of his right 

to appear and defend in person under Article I, section 22. 

 4.  Mr. Warner was denied the right to assist in his own defense. 

 5.  Mr. Warner was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment 

rights to the effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to 

seek accommodation for his hearing disability, leaving Mr. Warner 

unable to hear the trial proceedings. 

B.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  To prove constructive possession, the State must prove beyond 

a reasonable doubt that the defendant exercised dominion and control 

over an item.  Must Mr. Warner’s convictions be reversed and dismissed 

where the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he 

exercised dominion and control over the firearms seized?  
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2.  An accused person has a constitutional right to appear in 

person and to be present in court, and to assist in his defense.  Here, Mr. 

Warner’s hearing loss was not accommodated, although it was pointed 

out to the court by his own counsel several times.  Were Mr. Warner’s 

convictions entered in violation of his rights under the Sixth and 

Fourteenth Amendments, as well as Article I, Section 22? 

C.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Edward Warner is a senior citizen with chronic health issues, 

including diabetes, kidney failure, and a hearing disability; he requires 

dialysis several times per week.  CP 48, RP 30, 185-87.  Following the 

amputation of one of his toes due to advanced diabetes, he was released 

from a long-term care facility in early October 2013 and was taken in by 

Wendy Christiansen.  RP 30. 

 Ms. Christiansen had been introduced to Mr. Warner by an old 

boyfriend, Wayne Chin; Ms. Christiansen permitted Mr. Warner to stay 

at her Bellingham home after his discharge from the hospital facility, 

since he “didn’t have any place to go.”  Id.  Mr. Warner slept in a La-Z-

Boy recliner in Ms. Christiansen’s living room, located in the front part 

of the three-bedroom house.  RP 32-33, 133.  Ms. Christiansen said that 
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there was no space for him to stay in any of the bedrooms, as most of the 

rooms were used for storage.  RP 33.   

 At some point in early October 2013, Ms. Christiansen stated that 

Mr. Warner and their mutual friend Mr. Chin asked if they could store 

some firearms in the closet in the back bedroom of her home.  RP 31, 36-

38.  She did not know who actually put guns into the closet, as she was 

not there at the time.  RP 37.  Ms. Christiansen said the back bedroom 

was the furthest point in the house from the living room where Mr. 

Warner stayed, and that he would only have access to the cluttered back 

bedroom and its closet “if he could get in there.”  RP 36.  When asked 

who the firearms belonged to, Ms. Christiansen replied that she didn’t 

“suppose to know whose they are.”  RP 134-35.  Ms. Christiansen also 

said that after the firearms had been placed in her closet, she never saw 

Mr. Warner with them again – not holding them, firing them, cleaning 

them, or taking care of them.  RP 40 (“No … absolutely not.”).       

 During the same time period, Detective Jana Bouzek performed a 

welfare check on Ms. Christiansen, in response to a call that the older 

woman was being exploited for her prescription medications by her 

former boyfriend, Mr. Chin.  RP 13-14, 18.1  Detective Bouzek also 

                                                           
1
 Ms. Christiansen denied her previous relationship with Mr. Chin at 

trial, but Detective Bouzek confirmed the nature of the complaint.  RP 18. 
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looked into the allegation that Mr. Warner and Mr. Chin were storing 

firearms at the home – something that Ms. Christiansen had told her adult 

children.  RP 16-18, 34.  The detective asked Mr. Warner whether he had 

any guns in the house, and he said there was a .22 target shooting gun, as 

well as other firearms in another room.  RP 15.  Because the detective did 

not have the correct spelling of Mr. Warner’s name, however, his 

criminal record was not immediately apparent; Bouzek therefore took no 

law enforcement action, despite Mr. Warner’s statements regarding the 

firearms.  RP 16. 

 Approximately two weeks later, pursuant to a continuing police 

investigation, a search of Mr. Warner’s criminal history revealed that he 

had a prior felony record.  RP 54.2  A search warrant for Ms. 

Christiansen’s home was obtained and executed on October 22, 2013, 

and five firearms were seized from the closet in the back bedroom.  RP 

56-62, 83.       

 No fingerprints were recovered from the firearms and no DNA 

analysis was conducted.  RP 62-63, 96-97.  Mr. Warner stipulated that he 

was previously convicted of a felony offense, and that the items seized 

                                                                                                                                                

 
2
 At trial, Mr. Warner stipulated to a prior felony conviction from April 

26, 2012.  CP 14-15. 
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from Ms. Christiansen’s home were firearms as defined in the court’s 

jury instructions.  CP 14-15. 

 On the first day of trial -- on the first page of the transcript -- Mr. 

Warner told the trial judge that he could not hear the proceedings.  RP 3.  

In response to the judge’s question about whether Mr. Warner 

understood the amended information, Mr. Warner said, “I’m sorry, Your 

Honor, but my hearing is very bad.”  RP 3-4.  The judge repeated the 

same question, to which Mr. Warner replied that he understood, and his 

counsel replied, “Still not guilty.”  RP 4.  Mr. Warner then echoed, “Not 

guilty, Your Honor.”  RP 4.  Neither the court, nor defense counsel, 

offered Mr. Warner an assisted listening device at this time – nor at any 

other time – during the trial, despite Mr. Warner’s obvious difficulty 

hearing the proceedings.  RP 77, 80, 82. 142.   

 Following a jury trial, Mr. Warner was found guilty as charged.  

RP 179-81; CP 30-31.   



 6 

D.  ARGUMENT 

1. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT 

MR. WARNER OF UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF THE 

FIREARMS, AS THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE 

CONSTRUCTIVE POSSESSION. 

 

a.  The prosecution bears the burden of proving all 

essential elements of an offense beyond a reasonable 

doubt. 

 

The State has the burden of proving each element of the crime 

charged beyond a reasonable doubt.  In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 

90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); State v. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568, 

580, 14 P.3d 752 (2000).  This allocation of the burden of proof to the 

prosecutor derives from the guarantees of due process of law contained in 

article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution and the 14th 

Amendment of the federal constitution.  Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 

510, 520, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979); State v. Acosta, 101 

Wn.2d 612, 615, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984).  On a challenge to the 

sufficiency of the evidence, this Court must reverse a conviction when, 

after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, no 

rational trier of fact could have found all the essential elements of the 

offense beyond a reasonable doubt.  Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 

319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 

216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). 
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In a claim of insufficiency, the reviewing court presumes the truth 

of the State's evidence as well as all inferences that can be reasonably 

drawn therefrom.  State v. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 

1254, aff'd, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980).  However, when an 

innocent explanation is equally as valid as one upon which the inference 

of guilt may be made, the interpretation consistent with innocence must 

prevail.  United States v. Bautista-Avila, 6 F.3d 1360, 1363 (9th Cir. 

1993).  “[U]nder these circumstances, a reasonable jury must necessarily 

entertain a reasonable doubt.”  United States v. Lopez, 74 F.3d 575, 577 

(5th Cir. 1996).  Speculation and conjecture are not a valid basis for 

upholding a jury’s guilty verdict.  State v. Prestegard, 108 Wn. App. 14, 

42-43, 28 P.3d 817 (2001). 

b.  In order to prove that Mr. Warner was guilty of 

unlawful possession of the firearms, the prosecution 

was required to show constructive possession. 

 

Constructive possession is defined as the exercise of dominion 

and control over an item.  State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d. 27, 29-30, 459 

P.2d 400 (1969).  Constructive possession is established by viewing the 

totality of the circumstances, including proximity to the property and 

ownership of the premises in which the contraband is found.  State v. 

Turner, 103 Wn. App. 515, 523, 13 P.3d 234 (2000); State v. Cantabrana, 
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83 Wn. App. 204, 208, 921 P.2d 572 (1996).  The circumstances must 

provide substantial evidence for the fact finder to reasonably infer the 

defendant had dominion and control.  State v. Cote, 123 Wn. App. 546, 

549, 96 P.3d 410 (2004).  Close proximity alone is never enough to infer 

constructive possession.  Id. 

Ownership of a vehicle, or a residence, where contraband is 

discovered, is one factor to consider when assessing constructive 

possession.  Turner, 103 Wn. App. at 521-24; see Cantabrana, 83 Wn. 

App. at 208.  For example, in Turner, the police found a gun in plain 

view in the car Turner owned.  103 Wn. App. at 518.  Since Turner 

owned the car, drove it that day, and the gun was in plain view, his 

dominion and control over the gun was reasonably inferred.  Id. at 524.   

 On the other hand, in Callahan, the defendant was not the owner 

of the houseboat where drugs were found, but was seen in close 

proximity to drugs discovered in a cigar box.  Callahan was an overnight 

guest at the houseboat and even admitted to handling the drugs that day.  

77 Wn.2d at 28-31 (emphasis added).  Callahan also owned several 

pieces of personal property found on the boat, including two books, two 

guns, and broken scales for measuring drugs.  Id. at 31.  Yet the Supreme 

Court found his close proximity, knowledge of the drugs, and his 
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ownership of other incriminating items insufficient to consider him a 

constructive possessor of the drugs.  Id.  The Callahan Court stressed that 

the defendant was merely using the property, not paying rent or 

maintaining the houseboat as his residence.  Id. 

In State v. Spruell, 57 Wn. App. 383, 788 P.2d 21 (1990), the 

police observed the defendant standing up from a table as they entered 

the room; drugs and paraphernalia were found on the table.  The Court 

found the State failed to prove possession where the only evidence was 

defendant’s proximity to the drugs and his fingerprints on a plate 

containing cocaine residue.  Id. at 387-89.  The Spruell Court found that 

the fingerprints proved only fleeting possession at best, which was 

insufficient to prove actual possession or dominion and control.  Id. at 

387.   Because the defendant in Spruell lacked dominion and control over 

the premises, mere proximity and momentary handling were insufficient 

to prove constructive possession.  Id. at 389.   

 Likewise, in Cote, the defendant was a passenger in a vehicle 

where contraband was found, and his fingerprints were found on a jar 

containing some of the contraband.  123 Wn. App. at 548.  The State 

proved that “Mr. Cote was at one point in proximity to the contraband 

and touched it,” but this was “insufficient to establish dominion and 
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control.  Accordingly, there was no evidence of constructive possession.”  

Id. at 550.  Lastly, in State v. Alvarez, even though officers found other 

property belonging to the defendant in the same room as the gun they 

recovered, including his books, his photographs, and his bank records, 

the Court found insufficient evidence of dominion and control.  105 Wn. 

App. 215, 223, 19 P.3d 485 (2001). 

c.  The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Warner had 

dominion or control over either the premises or the 

firearms in the back closet; therefore, the evidence was 

insufficient to convict. 

 

The testimony at trial was clear that Mr. Warner, like the 

defendants in Callahan, Spruell, Cote, and Alvarez, neither owned, 

rented, nor permanently resided in the location in which he was found.  

RP 30.    Although according to Ms. Christiansen, Mr. Warner 

momentarily handled the firearms, along with Mr. Chin, when he asked if 

they could be stored in the cluttered back room closet, Ms. Christiansen 

testified that Mr. Warner never touched those guns again.  RP 40.  Such 

momentary handling of contraband is insufficient evidence of dominion 

and control.  See Callahan, 77 Wn.2d at 28-31; Spruell, 57 Wn. App. at 

389.  Nor is it clear that Mr. Warner handled the weapons personally, in 

order to prove actual possession, since Ms. Christiansen admitted she 

was not present at the time the guns were placed in the closet.  RP 37.     
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In sum, the prosecution did not offer evidence based on anything 

more than an assumption that Mr. Warner’s presence in the same house 

as the seized firearms demonstrated that he exercised dominion and 

control over them. 

  d.  The prosecution’s failure to prove all essential 

elements requires reversal.  

 

The prosecution failed to sufficiently connect Mr. Warner to the 

firearms, by failing to present sufficient evidence of dominion and 

control, an essential element of the charged offense.  Absent proof of 

every essential element, the conviction must be reversed and the charge 

dismissed.  State v. Hundley, 126 Wn.2d 418, 421-22, 895 P.2d 403 

(1995).   

2. MR. WARNER’S CONVICTIONS WERE ENTERED IN 

VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHT TO APPEAR AND DEFEND 

IN PERSON UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 22 AND THE 

SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO 

DUE PROCESS. 

 

a.  The lack of accommodation denied Mr. Warner his 

constitutional right to appear and be present.  

 

In Washington, an accused person has the constitutional right to 

“appear and defend in person…” Article I, Section 22.  The federal 

constitution guarantees the right to be present at all critical stages of trial.  

U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880-81, 246 
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P.3d 796 (2011); see also State v. Ramirez-Dominguez, 140 Wn. App. 

233, 243, 165 P.3d 391 (2007). 

One component of these rights is “the right to have trial 

proceedings presented in a way that the accused can understand.”  Linton 

v. State, 275 S.W.3d 493, 503 (Tex., 2009).  The trial court “has a duty to 

devise a communication solution that provides the particular defendant 

with ‘that minimum level’ of understanding that is constitutionally 

required.”  Id.; see also People v. James, 937 P.2d 781, 783 (Colo., 

1996). 

This standard requires accommodation that allows the accused to 

“sufficiently understand the proceedings against him such that he is able 

to assist in his own defense.”  Linton, 275 S.W.3d at 503-04; see also 

United States v. McMillan, 600 F.3d 434, 453-54 (5th Circ. 2010); State 

v. Barber, 617 So.2d 974, 976 (La., 1993).  The test is analogous to that 

used to determine competency to stand trial.  Linton, 275 S.W.3d at 503 

n.13 (collecting cases).  This requires accommodation to permit 

understanding at the time live testimony is given.  Id. at 504. 

In People v. Doe, the court analogized the predicament of a 

hearing impaired individual without an accommodation to that of a non-

English speaking defendant being forced to proceed without a language 
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interpreter.  602 N.Y.S.2d 507, 510, 158 Misc.2d 863 (1993) (“Clearly, a 

non-English speaking defendant could not meaningfully assist in his/her 

own defense without the aid of an interpreter.”).  The court in Doe found 

it irrelevant whether a defendant could function well in the controlled 

environment of an audiology exam, which determined that she could hear 

at a rate of 92% accuracy.  Id. at 509. 

Unfortunately, the courtroom is not the optimal setting for 

a hearing impaired individual. The acoustics are poor, 

background noises are prevalent and with the defendant 

sitting at counsel table, she necessarily faces an attorney's 

back when a witness is being questioned. From all the 

documentary evidence provided, there can be no dispute 

that the defendant is hearing impaired nor can there be any 

dispute that due to this impairment and the courtroom 

acoustics and configuration, much of the trial may not 

have been comprehended, understood or heard by the 

defendant. 

 

Doe, 602 N.Y.S.2d at 509. 

 

The Doe Court concluded, that “even assuming that she was able 

to hear 92% of the trial, that percentage is not enough to satisfy due 

process.  A defendant is entitled to hear 100% of the proceedings.”  Id. 

Once a trial court is alerted to an accused’s disability, the court is 

responsible for taking whatever steps are necessary to ensure the 

necessary level of understanding required by the constitution.  Linton, 

275 S.W.3d at 503-04.  If the need for accommodation is acutely 
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obvious, the accused person need not even make a request to the trial 

court.  Doe, 602 N.Y.S.2d at 510.   

In this case, Mr. Warner suffers from a hearing impediment that 

affected his ability to hear the trial proceedings; he alerted the court to 

this fact no less than five times during the trial.  RP 3-4, 77, 80, 82, 142.   

Other than to ask witnesses to speak directly into the 

microphones, no accommodation was provided by the court in order to 

ensure that Mr. Warner could hear “100% of the proceedings,” as due 

process demands.  See Doe, 600 N.Y.S.2d at 510.  Although the court 

assured Mr. Warner that the court would “do everything that we can to 

make sure that [he] can hear us,” the court did nothing to follow through 

on that promise.  RP 82.   

b.  Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request 

an accommodation for Mr. Warner’s disability. 

 

Likewise, Mr. Warner’s defense counsel failed to request any 

accommodation.  Despite the fact that Mr. Warner complained within the 

first moments of not being able to hear the judge read the amended 

information, counsel never requested that a listening device be provided 

for his client.  RP 3-4, 77, 80, 82, 142.   

Mr. Warner’s early statement that “my hearing is very bad,” RP 3, 

together with counsel’s four additional reminders to the court that Mr. 
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Warner could not hear the proceedings, indicate that counsel should have 

sought accommodation from the court to assist Mr. Warner with his 

hearing disability, so that he could exercise his due process right to 

appear and defend in person.    

To the degree that trial counsel failed to protect Mr. Warner’s  

fundamental due process rights, counsel did not function as the effective 

advocate to which Mr. Warner was constitutionally entitled.  U.S. Const. 

Amends. VI, XIV; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 

2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); In re Hubert, 138 Wn. App. 924, 929, 158 

P.3d 1252 (2007).   

E.  CONCLUSION 

 For the above reasons, Mr. Warner’s case should be reversed and 

dismissed for failure to prove an essential element.  In the alternative, 

due to the due process violation, the matter should be reversed and 

remanded for a new trial.