72639-1 72639-1

FILED
Oct 29, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72639-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

 \mathbf{v}_{\bullet}

EDWARD WARNER, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By HILARY A. THOMAS Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent WSBA #22007 / ADMIN. #91075

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784

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

of the illegal item on the premises and evidence of residency or tenancy."

<u>State v. Jeffrey</u>, 77 Wn. App. 222, 889 P.2d 956 (1995).

In Echeverria, the juvenile offender was charged with possession of a firearm by a minor. The evidence showed that an officer had followed a car driven by the juvenile, due to concerns about vehicle prowls, which car also had four other passengers. Echeverria, 85 Wn. App. at 780. The juvenile got out of driver's seat near an apartment complex and starting walking toward the apartments. Id. When the officer told the juvenile and two of the passengers to stop, one passenger walked away and the juvenile was grabbed by the officer and detained. Id. When the officer went over to the car whose driver's side door was still open, the officer immediately saw the front of a gun barrel sticking out from under the driver's seat. Id. The juvenile was not the registered owner of the car and testified he had only been driving the car for a little bit that night, that he had not seen the gun before and that he didn't know it was under the seat. Id. at 781. The appellate court upheld the juvenile conviction finding that a "rational trier of fact could find [the juvenile] possessed or controlled the gun that was within his reach." Id. at 783.

Here, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient evidence that Warner actually possessed the firearms. Christiansen's testimony that she actually saw Warner take the guns from

the back of his pickup truck into the house, along with other, circumstantial evidence established actual possession beyond a reasonable doubt. While Warner admits Christiansen testified she actually saw him bring the guns into the house, he asserts that is only evidence of momentary handling and therefore insufficient to establish dominion and control. Warner, however, asked for permission to bring his guns into the home in order to keep them from getting rusty. She saw him bring them from his truck into the house. The guns weren't Christiansen's: she had no experience with guns, didn't want them in the house and he could have removed them at any time. Warner told the officer doing the welfare check he had guns in the house, including a .22 target pistol, but they were in another room in the house. This circumstantial evidence, in addition to Christiansen's actually seeing him with the guns as they were moved into the house, was sufficient for a rational trier of fact to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Warner actually possessed the firearms. See, Manion, 173 Wn. App. 610 (fact that juvenile's DNA was a possible contributor to mixed profile DNA on firearm found in bushes, that juvenile fled along with others when they were followed by an unmarked police car and that juvenile was seen near the bushes right before the gun was found was sufficient circumstantial evidence of actual possession of the firearm); see also, State v. Williamson, 84 Wn. App. 37, 924 P.2d 960

(1996) (evidence that juvenile matched description of suspect in a reported altercation involving a handgun, that juvenile was found near scene of altercation, that officer observed juvenile holding a silver object and ducking into hedge where a silver handgun was found was sufficient to prove actual possession of that gun).

The evidence presented was also sufficient to prove constructive possession of the firearms as well. In challenging the verdict on sufficiency grounds, Warner admits all reasonable inferences from the evidence and their interpretation strongly adverse to him. Warner resided at Christiansen's home, moved the firearms from his truck to the back bedroom closet, and knew the firearms were there. The firearms were located in the same closet as his St. Francis bag and pill bottle. No one else resided in the home aside from Christiansen and himself. Christiansen denied any interest in the firearms and only gave Warner permission to store the firearms there. Warner's request for permission to bring the firearms into the house from where he had them stored in his pickup truck establishes that he was asserting control and dominion over the firearms. Moreover, the living room where Warner was sleeping was at most 25 feet from the bedroom where the firearms were being stored, so he had access to them, and he told the officer that he had firearms in the home. Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there

was sufficient for the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Warner was in constructive possession of the firearms. *See*, State v. Holt, 119 Wn. App. 712, 82 P.3d 688 (2004), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Willis, 153 Wn.2d 366, 103 P.3d 1213 (2005) (evidence that defendant lived in trailer, despite his claims otherwise, controlled access to the room in which the firearms were found, and statement that the guns were his was sufficient evidence that defendant possessed and/or controlled the firearms); Mathews, 4 Wn. App. 653 (evidence that drugs and drug paraphernalia found in back seat of car where defendant, a heroin user, had been sitting, and that the other occupants denied ownership or knowledge of the drugs was sufficient to establish constructive possession of the drugs).

State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 459 P.2d 400 (1969), State v.

Spruell, 57 Wn. App. 383, 788 P.2d 21 (1990), State v. Cote, 123 Wn.

App. 546, 96 P.3d 410 (2004), and State v. Alvarez, 105 Wn. App. 215, 19

P.3d 485 (2001), cited by Warner for the proposition that momentary handling by persons is insufficient, are distinguishable. Callahan stands for the proposition that "proof of mere proximity and an earlier momentary handling did not show that a person had dominion and control over an item when another person claimed ownership." Summers, 107

Wn. App. at 386, citing State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 800-01, 872 P.2d

502 (1994) (emphasis added). Moreover, in <u>Callahan</u> the defendant had only been staying on the premises for a couple days, other persons were present at the time the drugs were found, and the drugs were found on the floor between the defendant and another person. <u>Callahan</u>, 77 Wn.2d at 28.

Similarly in <u>Spruell</u>, others were present when the police entered and found the drugs. <u>Spruell</u>, 57 Wn. App. at 384-85. The defendant, a non-occupant, was not seen sitting at the table where the drugs and drug paraphernalia were, but another man was. That man also had a bindle of white powder on him. Id. at 384. The *only evidence* that connected the defendant to the cocaine found in the kitchen was his presence there and his fingerprint on a plate, which appeared to have cocaine residue on it, found near the door. Id. at 384, 388.

In <u>Cote</u>, the defendant was not near or in the truck that contained the drug paraphernalia at the time he was arrested. <u>Cote</u>, 123 Wn. App. at 549-50. While he had been a passenger in the truck, the only evidence connecting him to the drug paraphernalia were his prints on Mason jars that were found in the back of the truck, not in the passenger compartment where he had been sitting. Id.

In <u>Alvarez</u>, a firearm was found in a back bedroom closet. Some of the juvenile's possessions were found in the bedroom and he was

charged with unlawful possession of the firearm based on constructive possession as the occupant of the bedroom. Alvarez, 105 Wn. App. at 218. Finding that evidence of "temporary residence or the mere presence of personal possessions on the premises" is insufficient, the court reversed the conviction. The apartment, however, was known as a party house and five juveniles were present at the time the search warrant was served. Id. at 218-20. The juvenile testified he didn't live there, and there was testimony that only two persons other than Alvarez lived there. Id. at 219. The only evidence connecting the juvenile to the room were personal possessions, not any usual documents of "dominion and control," and there was evidence the juvenile resided elsewhere. Id. at 223.

Here, there was no dispute that Warner was residing at the residence during the month of October and beyond, and there was other evidence that he was exercising dominion and control over the firearms by requesting permission to move them from his truck inside, by moving them into the closet, claiming ownership of the guns when speaking with the officer, in addition to having other items in the same closet. Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find Warner guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm based on constructive possession of the firearm. In addition, even if the evidence was insufficient to establish constructive

possession, there was sufficient evidence of actual possession based on Christiansen's seeing Warner with the gun given the other surrounding circumstantial evidence.

2. Warner has failed to show that his right to appear and defend under the Sixth Amendment was violated due to his hearing impediment.

Warner asserts he has a hearing impediment that affected his ability to hear the trial proceedings and the trial court violated his Sixth Amendment, and Art.1 §22, right to appear and defend by failing to accommodate it. He also contends that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request accommodation for the hearing impediment. Warner was provided a hearing device to assist him in the proceedings and may not otherwise raise any issue of the court's failure to adequately accommodate his hearing impediment for the first time on appeal because he failed to raise this issue with the trial court. Nothing in the record³ demonstrates the nature of his hearing impediment, whether it was continuous or not, and that he informed the court of the need for a specific accommodation. Under RAP 2.5(a), this Court should decline to address this issue for the first time on appeal. In addition, defense counsel did not

-

14

³ The State has filed an agreed motion to supplement the record, pursuant to RAP 9.10, with an agreed report of proceedings, and the transcript of the hearing related to the agreed report of proceedings, that reflects that Warner was provided a hearing assistive device during trial.

provide ineffective assistance by failing to request an accommodation because Warner was provided a device and there is nothing in the record regarding what he told defense counsel about his hearing impediment and need for an accommodation. The record also does not establish that there were any significant portions of the proceedings that Warner in fact did not hear. Warner has failed to meet his burden to establish ineffective assistance of defense counsel that was prejudicial to him.

a. RAP 2.5

An appellant may raise an issue for the first time on appeal if he/she can demonstrate a manifest error that affected a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). Exceptions to RAP 2.5(a), however, are to be construed narrowly. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). In order to show "manifest error," an appellant must show that the alleged error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial. Id. The burden is on the defendant to identify the constitutional error and how it actually prejudiced his defense. State v. McDonald, 138 Wn.2d 680, 691, 981 P.2d 443 (1999).

The Sixth Amendment encompasses the right to "reasonable accommodations for impairments" including hearing impairments. <u>U.S. v.</u> Crandall, 748 F.3d 476, 481 (2nd Cir. 2014); *see also*, <u>U. S. v. McMillan</u>, 600 F. 3d 434, 453 (5th Cir. 2010), *cert. den.*, 562 U.S. 1006 (2010) (under

federal constitutional due process provisions reasonable accommodations should be provided to ensure that a defendant can understand trial proceedings).

Yet the Sixth Amendment does not create an absolute right to the elimination of all difficulties or impairments that may hinder a criminal defendant's capacity to perfectly comprehend, and participate in, court proceedings.

<u>Crandall</u>, 748 F.3d at 482. Whether to provide an accommodation, and the type of accommodation, is within the sound discretion of the trial court. <u>In</u> re Marriage of Olson, 69 Wn. App. 621, 624, 850 P.2d 527 (1993); *see also*, <u>State v. Mendez</u>, 56 Wn. App. 458, 463, 784 P.2d 168 (1989) (appointment of interpreter within sound discretion of trial court). The reasonable accommodation to be provided depends upon the nature and/or degree of impairment. Crandall, 748 F.3d at 484.

A defendant has an obligation to alert the trial court of his/her need for accommodation. Mendez, 56 Wn. App. at 463; see also, Crandall, 748 F.3d at 482 (Sixth Amendment right to reasonable accommodations is limited to those "requested by the defendant before or during trial, or the need for which is, or should reasonably be, clear or obvious" to the judge); U.S. v. Vargas, 871 F.Supp. 623 (S.D.N.Y. 1994), adhered to on reconsideration, 885 F.Supp. 504 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (accused had obligation to notify court of his need for a Spanish interpreter).

[A defendant] cannot be permitted to sit by without raising the issue or asking his attorney to do so, and then claim that his conviction should be vacated because of a matter which would have been obvious to him and for which a remedy was readily available if requested.

Vargas, 871 F.Supp. at 625.

The federal constitution does not require that a defendant receive a perfect trial, it only requires that a "defendant sufficiently understand the proceedings against him to be able to assist in his own defense."

McMillan, 600 F.3d at 454. If faced with a defendant who is affected by deafness, the court "should afford such a defendant reasonable facilities for confronting and cross-examining the witnesses as the circumstance will permit." Id. at 453-54 (quoting People ex rel. Myers v. Briggs, 263 N.E.2d 109, 113 (Ill. 1970)). Once notice is provided, the court should balance the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights against the public's interest in determining what accommodations are reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. Id. at 454.

Here, Warner asserts that his hearing impediment prevented him from appearing and defending himself at trial. He doesn't cite to any Washington authority but relies upon authority from other states in asserting that the court's alleged failure to accommodate his hearing impediment implicates his Sixth Amendment, and Art.1 § 22, constitutional right to appear and defend. Even assuming failure to

accommodate a hearing impediment implicates those constitutional provisions⁴, Warner has failed to demonstrate that any such issue was manifest in this case.

First, Warner never informed the court of the nature of his hearing impediment and the need for specific accommodation. While he did indicate at the hearing to arraign him on the amended information that he was having difficulty hearing, the judge subsequently made sure that Warner understood that only the dates were being amended. RP 3-4. Warner was subsequently provided a hearing assistive device, which was available to him throughout the trial. Supp. CP ___, Sub Nom. 75; 10/21/15 RP 5, 7-8. It wasn't until trial adjourned on the first day that defense counsel informed the court, during a discussion of ministerial matters, that Warner was again having some difficulty hearing, when they weren't speaking directly into the microphones. RP 72, 77. The next morning during a discussion of the stipulations, defense counsel asked that the prosecutor speak into the microphone so that Warner could hear and reminded the judge that everyone needs to speak into the microphone so that "it's probably a little bit clearer." RP 80, 82. The judge confirmed

=

⁴ It appears some courts have addressed the issue in the context of due process, not the provision of a defendant's ability to appear and defend. *See*, *e.g.*, <u>McMillan</u>, 600 F.3d at 453-55 (blind defendant's due process rights were not violated for failure to provide him with reasonable accommodations even though a number of exhibits had not been translated into Braille for him).

that they would do everything to make sure Warner could hear them. RP 82. The only other time defense counsel raised an issue regarding Warner's hearing was when the judge was reading the jury instructions to the jury. After defense counsel indicated that Warner was having some difficulty hearing, the judge moved the microphone closer and turned it up. RP 142. After that defense counsel didn't indicate that Warner was having any difficulty hearing.

From the record, all the court would have been aware of is that a couple times Warner was having some difficulty hearing. Defense counsel did not inform the court that Warner was unable to hear the proceedings at all, or even unable to hear the witness testimony. At most from the record, it appears that on occasion he was having some difficulty hearing the judge and attorneys when they were not close enough to the microphone. Presumably after defense counsel requested that the prosecutor and judge speak into the microphone, they did so and no further accommodation was necessary. *See*, In re Marriage of Olson, 69 Wn. App. at 624 (from record it appeared that no further accommodation was needed other than persons speaking up because party didn't indicate any need for further assistance aside from asking some witnesses to speak up). It is Warner's burden to establish that his hearing impediment required accommodation, it wasn't accommodated and it was manifest,

i.e., at a minimum resulted in his being unable to hear significant portions of testimony. He has failed to do so, and pursuant to RAP 2.5(a) he is precluded from raising this issue for the first time on appeal. *See*, Crandall, 748 F.3d at 480-81(defendant failed to adequately raise claim of continuous hearing impairment where the defendant and/or his attorney never made the judge aware that the defendant's hearing impairment required a continuous solution, even though the judge was alerted to the defendant's difficulty with hearing on several occasions).

b. ineffective assistance of counsel

In order to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that (1) his counsel's representation fell below a minimum objective standard of reasonableness based on all the circumstances, and (2) there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the outcome would have been different.

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